FILED
April 30, 2015
Court of Appeals

Division I State of Washington

NO. 68662-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.

DANIEL THREADGILL,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable Cheryl Carey, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

# **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court violated appellant's right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3 by granting the prosecution's request for an unjustified continuance over appellant's objection.
- 2. The trial court's findings in support of the continuance are erroneous.
- 3. The State violated appellant's constitutional rights when it presented evidence that he refused to consent to a search of his cell phone and records of his calls.
- 4. The reasonable doubt instruction used at appellant's trial required more than a reasonable doubt to acquit and improperly shifted the burden to appellant to provide the jury with a reason for acquittal.
- 5. Defense counsel was ineffective and denied appellant his Sixth Amendment right to effective representation at trial.
- 6. The sentencing court failed to file written findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of an exceptional sentence.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Under CrR 3.3, a continuance beyond the speedy trial deadline is authorized where "required in the administration of justice," meaning the State has acted with due diligence and

presented "convincing and valid reasons" justifying additional delay. In appellant's case, prosecutors waited until just before trial to obtain a DNA sample they could have obtained anytime during the previous 15 months and after previously acknowledging this evidence was unnecessary for trial. Where the State failed to act with diligence and failed to provide convincing and valid reasons for delay, did the unjustified continuance violate appellant's right to a speedy trial?

- 2. When granting the State's motion for a continuance, did the trial court err when if found that the DNA sample could not reasonably have been obtained earlier and found that information learned after the omnibus hearing concerning the defense trial strategy also justified a continuance?
- 3. The State contrasted one witness' compliance and assistance (he volunteered information regarding his phone records) with appellant's noncompliance and resistance (a court order was necessary to obtain his phone records). Did this evidence penalize appellant's lawful exercise of his constitutional rights in violation of due process and the protections of the Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7?

- 4. If these constitutional violations were waived by defense counsel's failure to object, should they nonetheless be addressed because this failure denied appellant his Sixth Amendment right to effective representation?
- 5. The trial court instructed the jury that a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists." Does this instruction require the jury to have more than a reasonable doubt to acquit and impermissibly shift the burden of proof by instructing the jury it must articulate a reason before it can have reasonable doubt?
- 6. Written findings and conclusions are mandatory when the court imposes an exceptional sentence. None were filed in appellant's case. Is remand necessary?

### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. Procedural Facts

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged Daniel Threadgill and Araya McMillon-Cooper with Murder in the First Degree in connection with the August 2010 death of Jennifer Walstrand. The charge included a deadly weapon sentencing enhancement and an aggravating circumstance of deliberate cruelty, which permitted the State to seek an exceptional sentence.

CP 1-9, 537-538. Threadgill's case was later severed from McMillon-Cooper's. 3RP<sup>1</sup> 17.

Threadgill was incarcerated and demanded a speedy trial. 5RP 6; 6RP 17-18. Although the State previously indicated it was prepared to begin trial by the speedy trial deadline, just before trial was set to begin, prosecutors changed their minds and filed a motion to continue trial based on additional forensic testing they could have requested earlier but now desired. 3RP 15-16; Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 88C, State's Motion To Continue Trial). Over Threadgill's strenuous objections, the motion was granted. 7RP 10-16, 20-22; CP 234-356; Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 89, Order Continuing Trial).

A jury convicted Threadgill as charged. CP 661-663. The Honorable Cheryl Carey imposed an exceptional 480-month sentence, and Threadgill timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 756-758, 764-774; 30RP 35-38.

This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP-8/12/11; 2RP-9/14/11; 3RP-9/23/11; 4RP-10/3/11; 5RP-10/20/11; 6RP-11/1/11; 7RP-11/7/11; 8RP-11/10/11; 9RP-11/28/11; 10RP (supp.) – 11/29/11 (prior to 10:48 a.m.); 10RP-11/29/11 (10:48 a.m. and after); 11RP-12/1/11; 12RP-12/15/11; 13RP-1/3/12; 14RP-1/4/12; 15RP-1/5/12; 16RP-1/9/12; 17RP-1/10/12; 18RP-1/11/12; 19RP-1/12/12; 19RP-1/17/12; 19RP-1/12/12; 19

### 2. Substantive Facts

Just after midnight on the morning of August 31, 2010, Des Moines Police conducted a welfare check at 24005 25<sup>th</sup> Ave. S. – the center apartment in a triplex – in response to concerns from neighbors immediately to the south over "thumps" coming from the apartment and barking dogs within. 16RP 52-62, 68-70, 106-107. Another neighbor, from a nearby building, had heard two females arguing, one saying "I know you have it, you fucking ho," and one telling the other to "get out." 22RP 186. Officers discovered Jennifer Walstrand's body in a pool of blood just inside her front door. 16RP 112-113.

Walstrand had been stabbed 65 times and suffered blunt trauma to the head, resulting in a fractured jaw and several missing and loosened teeth. 25RP 117, 131-132. Blood spatter, drops, and stains were found primarily throughout the dining and living room areas, on the front door and an outer security door, on the front threshold and walkway just beyond the front door, and on the sidewalk that runs in front of the building along the public street. 17RP 142-175. The blood trail appeared to end where a car would park in front of the triplex. 16RP 123-124.

The scene revealed significant violence directed at Walstrand. It appeared she had been upright and moving for some period of the attack. 17RP 175. The person or persons who killed Walstrand would have been covered in her blood. 17RP 165. Bloody footwear impressions were found inside the apartment and heading outside, ending at a point along the front sidewalk. 16RP 116-117; 17RP 171-173, 177. It appeared that whoever left the prints got into a car that had been parked in front of the building. 16RP 123-124.

Walstrand was a known prostitute, and police believed her death might be connected to her work. 17RP 43; 19RP 102, 107. They identified several men who had recently used her services, interviewed them, and obtained samples of their DNA. 19RP 109-110, 118-119. Police spoke to Walstrand's pimp — Calvin Davis. 18RP 27, 81-82; 22RP 34-37. Police also spoke to Araya McMillon-Cooper, another prostitute who worked for Davis and lived in the same triplex as Walstrand in the apartment immediately to the north of her unit. 18RP 27-33, 79-82; 22RP 37-43, 112-113; 24RP 78-79, 83. McMillon-Cooper was not considered a suspect at the time. 18RP 28.

Another person to whom police spoke was Daniel Threadgill, whose name they obtained from McMillon-Cooper. 19RP 4. Threadgill was not a suspect, either. McMillon-Cooper merely mentioned to police that he had been spending time at her apartment. 19RP 5. Threadgill was a student at Bellevue College and owner of Five Star Entertainment, a business that promoted local clubs and generated customers for them. 19RP 11. McMillon-Cooper worked for Five Star in addition to her prostitution activities. 19RP 12; 24RP 91-92.

Police believed that Walstrand's attacker likely applied significant force to her neck area in an attempt to stabilize her while stabbing her. 23RP 143-144. Consistent with this belief, there was an absence of injuries on the upper left side of Walstrand's back and shoulder. 25RP 155-156. And police were excited to learn that male DNA has been found on the left side of Walstrand's neck. 19RP 44-45; 23RP 45-48, 131-133, 140-141. Testing on this sample revealed a minimum of four male contributors. 24RP 46. One individual – labeled "male individual A" – was considered the primary contributor based on the amount of his DNA at that location of Walstrand's body. 24RP 46-48.

Des Moines Police received what they considered a break in the case on May 17, 2011, approximately nine months after Walstrand's murder, when a Crime Stopper's tip suggested Marian Kerow and Fardosa Mohamed had useful information that involved McMillon-Cooper. 19RP 47-49, 131. When questioned, Mohamed twice denied any knowledge of the matter before changing her story and admitting she was actually present when Walstrand died. 19RP 55-61, 128-130; 20RP 26-28, 87-88. Kerow spoke to police that same day and also confessed her presence. 20RP 30; 21RP 134-138. The women's statements implicated Threadgill. 19RP 159.

Kerow subsequently agreed to wear a hidden wire and, on June 16, 2011, visited Threadgill at his work and engaged him in conversation in an attempt to gain a confession to the crime. 19RP 75-84; 21RP 19-39, 144-161. Threadgill did not confess, however, and denied any involvement. Exhibits 53, 59.

On June 21, 2011, a detective attempted to get a reaction from Araya McMillon-Cooper by calling her and asking if she knew "Veah" or "Destiny," names that Kerow and Mohamed sometimes used. 19RP 85-87, 165; 21RP 54-57. After that call, McMillon-

Cooper attempted to call Kerow and texted her. 19RP 87-90. The text reads:

Hey, we all need to meet ASAP. If anyone asks, you don't know Araya and I don't know Veah or Destiny. I will say your real name, K? Gotta meet. Don't panic.

19RP 90; 25RP 31. McMillon-Cooper also sent a series of text messages to Mohamed asking her to call as soon as possible. 20RP 69-70; 25RP 34-35. And Threadgill received a similar text. 19RP 91; 25RP 39-40. Both McMillon-Cooper and Threadgill were arrested later that same day. 19RP 91.

An expert scoured Walstrand's electronic devices (her cell phones and computer), but found no evidence she and Threadgill had ever contacted one another. 19RP 107-108; 25RP 48-51. The crime lab also compared Threadgill's DNA to DNA found at the murder scene. Threadgill's DNA was not found on Walstrand or anywhere else at the murder scene, and he was excluded as a source of the male DNA found on her neck. 23RP 125, 152-154; 24RP 44, 49. His fingerprints were not found on any evidence, either. 24RP 11, 26. And a search of the Bellevue apartment where Threadgill had lived with his aunt at the time of the murder similarly turned up nothing tying him to the crime. 17RP 190-194; 19RP 91-93.

In the absence of any physical evidence implicating Threadgill in Walstrand's murder, prosecutors relied largely on the trial testimony of Mohamed and Kerow.

Mohamed and Kerow had known each other since middle school and considered themselves sisters. 19RP 163-164. Kerow worked for Threadgill as a promoter and had introduced Mohamed to him. 19RP 167-168; 21RP 60-61. Kerow and Mohamed also met McMillon-Cooper through promotions activities. 19RP 176-177; 21RP 72-73.

Kerow and Mohamed attended a birthday party for Kerow at McMillon-Cooper's apartment on the night of August 28, 2010. Threadgill also was there. 19RP 178; 21RP 76-78. Kerow and Mohamed testified that, two days after that party, on the evening of August 30, McMillon-Cooper invited them back to her apartment for a "smoking party." 19RP 190-191; 21RP 82-85. According to the two women, after parking Kerow's car in front of McMillon-Cooper's triplex, they saw Threadgill hurriedly enter Walstrand's apartment and then heard a commotion coming from inside. 19RP 194-199; 20RP 12; 21RP 85, 88-90. Kerow and Mohamed ran to the front door of that apartment and saw Threadgill repeatedly stabbing Walstrand as McMillon-Cooper watched. 19RP 199-201; 21RP 90-

95. Walstrand was fighting back and saying "Araya, please stop" while looking at McMillon-Cooper. 19RP 202-203; 21RP 93. According to the women, at some point McMillon-Cooper said, "she's not dead" and Threadgill began stomping on Walstrand's head. 19RP 204; 20RP 18-19; 21RP 97-98. Both women ran before leaving the area in Kerow's car. 20RP 19-20; 21RP 97-100.

Kerow and Mohamed both denied any involvement in Walstrand's death.<sup>2</sup> 20RP 34-35; 21RP 167. In fact, not only did Kerow deny participating, a few weeks before trial she began to claim that, rather than merely watching what happened from close to the front doorway, she actually entered, tried to intervene on Walstrand's behalf, and was cut in the process. <u>See</u> 21RP 95-96, 139-141, 186-188; 22RP 51, 59; 26RP 86.

To bolster the testimony of Kerow and Mohamed, prosecutors made a deal with McMillon-Cooper. In exchange for her guilty plea to Conspiracy to Commit Murder in the Second

No effort was made to determine whether Kerow or Mohamed had physical contact with Walstrand. Although some 34 evidence samples from the scene showed the presence of female DNA in sufficient quantities to create a genetic profile, the crime lab did not investigate whether this DNA matched any woman known to be present for Walstrand's killing. 23RP 163-164. Instead, the lab focused on finding and typing male DNA. 23RP 166-167; 26RP 83. Law enforcement did not even ask for DNA reference samples from Kerow or Mohamed. 26RP 87.

Degree and the State's recommendation that she receive a sentence of 100.5 months (thereby avoiding a possible murder sentence in excess of 30 years), McMillon-Cooper testified against Threadgill. 24RP 78; 26RP 27-28.

According to McMillon-Cooper, she had a falling out with her pimp, Davis, in August 2010. 24RP 97-98. He had previously arranged for her to live next to Walstrand, but he began pressuring her to move out. 24RP 83, 103. Moreover, Walstrand had begun reporting McMillon-Cooper's activities to Davis, who had recently beat her up and was continuing to intimidate her verbally and physically.<sup>3</sup> 24RP 98-103, 107-111. McMillon-Cooper eventually revealed to Threadgill that she was a prostitute and told him about how Davis would beat her. 24RP 117-118. She also expressed fear about going to her apartment because Walstrand might tell Davis she was there. 24RP 118-119. According to McMillon-Cooper, Threadgill assured her that no one would hurt her because she was now part of the Five Star family and, referring to Davis and Walstrand, said "fuck him" and "fuck that bitch." 24RP 127-129.

A few weeks before Walstrand's murder, Mohamed had overheard McMillon-Cooper complaining about "a pimp and his ho" and how "that bitch was going to get it." 19RP 184-186; 20RP 77-78.

McMillon-Cooper testified that, on the evening of the murder, Threadgill communicated with Mohamed and Kerow about getting together to smoke. 24RP 140-142. McMillon-Cooper then stopped by her apartment to grab some clothes. 24RP 143. While inside her apartment, Threadgill – who had stayed behind in McMillon-Cooper's car parked just north of the triplex – phoned and said that Walstrand was out front. 24RP 143-145. McMillon-Cooper stuck her head out the front door. 24RP 146. Walstrand saw her and invited her over to talk. McMillon-Cooper accepted the invitation and, while there, Walstrand told her that if Davis wanted her to move out, she had to move out. Both women raised their voices while discussing the matter. 24RP 146-147.

According to McMillon-Cooper, she and Walstrand heard someone approaching from outside. 24RP 148-149. Threadgill then entered the apartment and immediately began stabbing Walstrand, who was asking McMillon-Cooper for help. 24RP 149-151. Threadgill held her with his left hand while he repeatedly stabbed her with his right hand. 24RP 151, 157-158. As Walstrand fell to her knees, Mohamed and Kerow appeared at the front door. 24RP 151. And when Walstrand fell to the ground, Threadgill stomped on her head. 24RP 152-153.

According to McMillon-Cooper, after the killing, she and Threadgill drove in her car to Threadgill's Bellevue apartment, where he changed out of his bloody clothing. 25RP 68-69, 72-73. She testified that Threadgill never explained why he killed Walstrand. 26RP 15. The only thing he ever said was, "it was either [you] or her." 26RP 16. McMillon-Cooper denied that she, Kerow, or Mohamed participated in or carried out the murder. 26RP 30.

During closing argument, the State asked jurors to approach this as an eyewitness case rather than a DNA case and to find that Threadgill alone stabbed and stomped on Walstrand until she was dead because he did not like the way McMillon-Cooper was being treated. 27RP 3-44.

The defense focused on the absence of Threadgill's DNA in Walstrand's apartment, on her body, or in his Bellevue apartment, which showed he was not present for the murder. Counsel argued that McMillon-Cooper, Kerow, and Mohamed (friends who couldn't keep their stories straight) were lying, McMillon-Cooper alone had the motive to kill Walstrand, the bloody footprints that led from the apartment to where Kerow had parked her car undermined the prosecution's theory, and the presence of "male individual A's,"

DNA – found precisely where one would expect to find the killer's DNA – suggested this unidentified man (rather than Threadgill) participated in Walstrand's killing. 27RP 45-82.

Threadgill now appeals to this Court.

### C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THREADGILL'S RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

Daniel Threadgill was arrested on June 21, 2011. CP 246. On August 12, 2011, the State obtained an order authorizing law enforcement to collect a sample of his DNA, and a sample was obtained on August 18, 2011. 1RP 12; CP 246. At the case setting hearing on September 14, 2011, Threadgill made it clear that he was exercising his right to a speedy trial and wanted a trial in November. 2RP 4. Speedy trial expired on November 12. Trial was set to begin November 7. 2RP 11.

The parties appeared in court again on September 23 to address a defense motion to sever Threadgill's case from McMillon-Cooper's. 3RP 2. The State did not oppose the motion, which was granted. 3RP 2, 17. Prosecutors stated on the record they would be ready to begin trial November 7 assuming they received results from the crime lab on Threadgill's DNA, as

expected, by October 17. 3RP 15. Threadgill again stated he was exercising his right to a speedy trial. 3RP 3. The court set a discovery deadline of October 20 subject to "unforeseeable circumstances." 3RP 20.

At a hearing on October 3, Threadgill reiterated that he wanted his trial to begin on November 7. 4RP 13. On October 17, 2011, the parties learned that Threadgill was excluded as a possible contributor of the DNA found on Walstrand's body. CP 246. At a status hearing on October 20, defense counsel confirmed they would be ready for trial by November 7. 5RP 6. The court scheduled omnibus for November 1 and ordered all trial briefs to be filed by November 2. 5RP 11, 15.

At the omnibus hearing on Tuesday, November 1, prosecutors disclosed for the first time that, the previous day, they had submitted additional DNA samples to the crime lab – from Calvin Davis, Araya McMillon-Cooper, and Lawrence Jungers<sup>4</sup> – to exclude them from evidence at the scene. Prosecutors acknowledged the results might not be ready in time for trial.

Jungers was one of Walstrand's customers just prior to her murder. <u>See</u> 19RP 25-26.

6RP 15-16. The defense was surprised by this revelation. 6RP 16-17. Prosecutors admitted they had not taken Davis' DNA sample until the prior Friday. 6RP 17. But they assured opposing counsel and the court that the State was prepared to proceed to trial on November 7 without these results if not received by that date. 6RP 15-16. The defense again confirmed it was ready for trial November 7 and indicated a desire to finish pretrial hearings and start jury selection before November 12. 6RP 17-18.

Unexpectedly, on the afternoon of Friday, November 4, the State filed a Motion to Continue Trial until December 1 and indicated that it was now "unwilling to proceed to trial" without results from the crime lab comparing Davis' DNA to the male DNA found at the crime scene. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 88C, State's Motion to Continue Trial, at 4, 12). The defense filed a lengthy response vigorously opposing the motion. CP 234-356.

The parties argued the State's motion on November 7 – the day trial was set to begin. 7RP 2. The State conceded prior knowledge that the defense planned to argue Davis was involved in the killing, but changed its mind about wanting his DNA evidence

for trial once it received defense briefing focusing on Davis.<sup>5</sup> 7RP 4-5. The State also maintained it had not been possible to obtain Davis' DNA until he voluntarily agreed to provide a sample in October 2011 based on the following circumstances set out in its motion:

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