68662-3

68662-3

FILED

July 29, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 68662-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DANIEL THREADGILL,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE CHERYL B. CAREY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

2. THERE WAS NO TESTIMONY THAT THREADGILL EXERCISED A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT, NOR DID THE STATE USE SUCH TESTIMONY AS EVIDENCE OF GUILT.

Threadgill next contends that his rights under the Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 7 were violated because a State's witness testified that Threadgill's phone was searched pursuant to a court order. However, Threadgill relies on cases where the State introduced the defendant's refusal to consent to a search and then encouraged the jury to use the evidence to infer guilt. No such evidence was introduced or used in that manner here. Moreover, Threadgill did not object to the testimony and has thus waived his right to raise the claim for the first time on appeal.

a. Relevant Facts.

The State introduced evidence that its expert in computer forensics had examined the physical cell phones belonging to McMillon-Cooper, Threadgill, Walstrand, and Davis. 25RP 13, 19, 29-30. The expert testified regarding the substance of text messages between Walstrand and Davis on the day of the murder. 25RP 27-28. He also testified about text messages between McMillon-Cooper's phone and the phone numbers belonging to Kerow, Mohamed, and Threadgill, and text messages between Threadgill and Kerow. 25RP 28-42. Prior to the expert's testimony about the substance of the text messages, the prosecutor asked:

- Q: Let's turn to 93-A. Does that list the phones that you reviewed in this case?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Specifically, how many phones did you review with respect to Ms. Araya McMillon-Cooper?

A: Two, an LG and a Samsung.

- Q: And did you review a phone that purported to belong to Daniel Threadgill?
- A: Yes, a Sanyo.
- Q: All right. And one purporting to belong to Calvin Davis?
- A: Yes, Blackberry.

- Q: Now, in reviewing the phone records or the phones for Ms. McMillon-Cooper and Mr. Threadgill, was that pursuant to a court order?
- A: Yes.

Q: What about the records or the phone for Mr. Davis?

A: It was on consent.

Q: Mr. Davis' consent?

- A: Correct.
- Q: Let's start with looking at Ms. McMillon-Cooper's LG phone.
- A: Okay.

25RP 29-30. Threadgill did not object to the testimony. <u>Id.</u> There was no testimony introduced that anyone had asked Threadgill for consent to search his phone, or that he refused such a request. The prosecutor did not mention the testimony during closing argument, nor did she argue any inferences to be drawn from the fact that Threadgill's phone was searched pursuant to a court order.

b. There Was No Manifest Constitutional Error.

Appellate courts will not review a claim of error that was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). An exception is made for manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). The exception, however, is a narrow one. <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 934, 155

P.3d 125 (2007). To meet this standard and raise an error for the first time on appeal, the appellant must demonstrate that the error is truly of constitutional dimension and that it is manifest. <u>State v. O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). "Manifest" in this context requires a showing of actual prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 99. Actual prejudice, in turn, requires a plausible showing that the asserted error had "practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 935.

Threadgill has failed to establish that the testimony amounts to a constitutional error. He cites <u>State v. Gauthier</u>, 174 Wn. App. 257, 263-67, 298 P.3d 126 (2013) as support that his constitutional rights were violated. However, in that case, the State elicited testimony that the defendant had refused to voluntarily supply a sample of his DNA, and then argued to the jury that Gauthier was guilty because an innocent person would have consented. <u>Gauthier</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 261-62. Although Gauthier had not objected below, this Court nevertheless reached the issue on appeal, stating, "[T]he prosecutor's *use of Gauthier's invocation of his constitutional right to refuse consent to a warrantless search as substantive evidence of his guilt* was a manifest constitutional error properly raised for the first time on appeal." <u>Id.</u> at 267 (emphasis added). In contrast here, no evidence was introduced that Threadgill

invoked a constitutional right, nor did the prosecutor put such evidence to improper use.

Moreover, even if RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires only that the testimony "touch" upon a constitutional concern, Threadgill has not demonstrated a "manifest" error. An error is manifest if it is "so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." <u>O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. This Court "must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." <u>State v. Kalebaugh</u>, No. 89971-1, Slip. Op. at 6 (July 9, 2015) (quoting <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 100)).

Threadgill speculates, based on the testimony, that the jury drew an inference that he refused to consent to a search of his phone. But sheer speculation about possible inferences cannot create an error that is "manifest," or obvious in the record. Indeed, if the jury drew any inference from the testimony at all, it could easily have inferred that a court order was required to search Threadgill's phone simply because he had been charged with a crime.

Furthermore, even if the jury could infer from the testimony that Threadgill had refused to allow the police to search his phone, a fleeting reference to a defendant's assertion of a constitutional right does not amount to error. <u>See State v. Burke</u>, 163 Wn.2d 204, 181 P.3d 1 (2008)

- 31 -

(mere reference to defendant's invocation of right to remain silent "may be permissible," but reversed conviction when the State invited jury to infer guilt from that silence). "Testimony constitutes an improper 'comment' on a right only if the State invites the jury to infer guilt from the exercise of the right." <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 838, 147 P.3d 1201, 1242-43 (2006), <u>overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R.</u>, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) (citing <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d 700, 707, 927 P.2d 235 (1996) and <u>State v. Henderson</u>, 100 Wn. App. 794, 798, 998 P.2d 907 (2000)).

Here, the prosecutor did not mention the court order in closing argument nor did she argue that the testimony was evidence of Threadgill's guilt. The State has a clear interest in presenting testimony to the jury that its evidence was obtained through lawful means. See 26RP 59 (State later inquired of Detective Thomas whether he obtained a search warrant for Threadgill's phone records). The record suggests no improper purpose on the part of the State in eliciting the fact of the court order. Simply put, there was no error at all, constitutional or otherwise.

Threadgill's argument regarding possible inferences that might be drawn from the testimony is insufficient to demonstrate that the comment had practical and identifiable consequences to the outcome of his case when the prosecutor did not use the fleeting testimony for any improper purpose. Threadgill has failed to establish manifest error of constitutional dimensions. His claim is precluded by RAP 2.5(a).

c. Any Error Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.

If this Court concludes that the State impermissibly used an inference that Threadgill invoked a constitutional right as substantive evidence of his guilt, such an error is harmless when the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would reach the same result absent the error. <u>Gauthier</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 270. Under that standard the court will look at the untainted evidence to determine if that evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. <u>State v. Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d 421, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

Threadgill makes much of the fact that his DNA was not discovered at the crime scene, but there was no testimony that any of the five partial male profiles discovered would necessarily have been left by the killer. And three eyewitnesses testified that they watched Threadgill commit the murder. Although Threadgill contends that "there was reason to doubt" Kerow's and Mohamed's testimony, he does not explain what that reason is apart from slight inconsistencies in their statements. Regardless of McMillon-Cooper's motive to downplay her involvement in the crime, Kerow and Mohamed were Threadgill's friends and had no reason whatsoever to falsely implicate him. Moreover, their recitation of events was consistent with the forensic evidence of the victim's injuries.

Additionally, Threadgill's phone records were consistent with the eyewitness testimony, and inconsistent with his statement to the police that he had fallen asleep drunk that evening. And nine months after the crime, but immediately after her conversation with Detective Thomas wherein it became clear that the police knew more than she had previously thought, McMillon-Cooper frantically texted Threadgill that they needed to speak "ASAP." Finally, together with the other evidence in the case, a reasonable juror viewing Threadgill's undercover video conversation with Kerow could easily consider his demeanor and responses incriminating.

From this untainted evidence, it is clear that any reasonable juror would have reached the same result in the absence of testimony that Threadgill's phone was searched pursuant to a court order. In <u>Gauthier</u>, where the court found the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the rape charge "boiled down to whether the jury believed [Gauthier's] story about prostitution gone bad or [the victim's] story that he forced her to perform a sex act." 174 Wn. App. at 270-71. And there, the prosecutor repeatedly undermined Gauthier's credibility by arguing in closing that his refusal to consent to the DNA test was evidence of his

- 34 -

guilt. <u>Id.</u> Unlike the facts of <u>Gauthier</u>, this case was not based on a credibility call between the defendant and a single witness, and the prosecutor did not reference the court order or argue in any manner that it proved Threadgill's guilt. If error, the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

d. Failing To Object To The Testimony Was Not Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel.

Threadgill also alleges that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorneys failed to object to the testimony. He is not entitled to relief on that basis either.

A criminal defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The burden of establishing such a claim falls on the defendant. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687. To prevail, Threadgill must show that (1) his attorney's conduct fell below a professional standard of reasonableness (the performance prong), and that, (2) but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different (the prejudice prong). <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). If he fails to establish either prong, the inquiry ends. <u>State v.</u> Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). Courts presume

- 35 -

that counsel has provided effective representation and are "highly deferential" when scrutinizing counsel's performance. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689.

To establish deficient performance in the context of a failure to object to testimony, a defendant must show that the failure to object fell below prevailing professional norms and that the objection would likely have been sustained. State v. Johnston, 143 Wn. App. 1, 20, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 714, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)). Gauthier had not been decided at the time of Threadgill's trial. Thus, he cites State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 725, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) to establish that his attorneys should have objected and that the trial court would have sustained such an objection. However, as in Gauthier, a witness specifically testified that Jones refused to provide a DNA sample when asked by the police. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 718. Here, the witness did not testify that Threadgill had been asked or refused consent to search; rather, the witness merely indicated that the search was premised upon a court order. His attorneys cannot be faulted for failing to object to unobjectionable testimony.

Moreover, even if his attorneys *could have* objected to the testimony based upon one inference to be drawn from it, the decision whether to object is a "classic example of trial tactics." <u>State v. Madison</u>,

53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1998). This Court presumes that the failure to object was legitimate trial strategy, and Threadgill bears the burden of rebutting this presumption. <u>Davis</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 714. To be improper, the jurors would have to infer from the testimony that Threadgill was asked for consent to search and refused. As such, his attorneys could have easily concluded that it was better not to draw attention to the testimony (and thereby avoid risking such an inference) by objecting. Threadgill has not established that the failure to object was not a tactical decision.

Even if his attorneys should have objected, Threadgill fails to establish the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. For the same reasons that any error in the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, Threadgill cannot show that there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different absent the testimony. His claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should be rejected.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE MEANING OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Threadgill asserts that the language of WPIC 4.01 defining reasonable doubt as "one for which a reason exists," is a misstatement of the law and therefore his conviction (along with every other conviction where WPIC 4.01 has been given) must be reversed. This argument has no merit and was never raised below. This Court is bound by precedent of the Washington Supreme Court upholding WPIC 4.01 and the language used therein.

a. Relevant Facts.

Here, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

The defendant, Daniel Threadgill, has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant, Daniel Threadgill, has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 670 (Jury Instruction 3) (emphasis added). It is the highlightedlanguage of which Threadgill complains. This language is from WPIC4.01. At trial, Threadgill did not object to the instruction. 26RP 116-27.Rather, he appeared to agree with it. 26RP 124-27.

b. The Alleged Error Is Not Manifest And Cannot Be Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

An instructional error not objected to below may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); <u>State v. Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (failure to instruct on "knowledge" was not manifest error). To obtain review, Threadgill must show that the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude and that it resulted in actual prejudice. <u>O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 98-99. To demonstrate actual prejudice there must be a plausible showing "that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 935. The error must be "so obvious on the record that [it] warrants appellate review." <u>O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100.

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